K. H. GYURKY

FRAGMENT OF A ‘HEDVIG BEAKER’ FROM THE ROYAL PALACE OF BUDA

Since the end of the last century art history has been concerned with the so-called® Hedvig
beakers’, exquisite pieces of medieval glass-work. Neither the age nor the place of their manu-
facture, however, could be determined. They have been dated to the 10th as well as from the
12th c., labeled Islamic and also Byzantine and while mostly they are accepted as original, though
some specialists have argued that they are forgeries from the 17th c.2 Exact dating, however, can
be achieved only with the help of new archaeological finds.

A new fragment has been found during the excavations at the Royal Palace.® It was
published in Hungarian.* Because of the international interest surrounding the object it was
thought that a review in a foreign language was needed. The fragment is no larger than 2.5X 2.7 em
and made of thick glass. All the characteristics of the type can be found: the relief-shaped orna-
mentation, made most probably by blowing into a carved wooden mold, and the linear carved
ornamentation of the surfaces. It has a neutral colour, somewhat yellowish. It is reminiscent
of the fragments from the Weibetrei bei Weinsberg castle (Baden-Wiirttenberg).> The circumstances
do not reveal even in this case, anything about when it was made. Presumably, it was carried as
a reliquary from the earlier royal seat (Esztergom) to Buda during its construction in the 13th
century, where it remained until the Turkish occupation in 1541.

To be able to say more about the history of the Hungarian fragment, it was necessary
to study the published pieces in detail.® The most important task was to separate real data from
the varied interpretations of the specialists. Some pieces were in their original mounts, often
linked to the name of a goldsmith (Namour), which may be traced back as far as the beginning
of the 13th c. Another important piece of information is provided by the mount of a Silesian
beaker made in 1528 depicting Hedvig’s figure, that is, the name of the beaker also harks back
to the historical past. As for the depictions on the beakers, the motifs (eagle, lion, palmette, spiral)
can be found in Islamic as well as in Byzantine art, from where it was introduced into the European
romanesque style. Thus, these variables do not offer safe guidelines. Still, it did prove possible
to separate one object: the polished glass beaker from the beginning of the 11th century, found
in a sunken ship along the Turkish coast (Bodrum). It is decorated with a walking lion, attesting
to the presence of such a motif on glass-wares.
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Fig. 1. The fragment of a ‘Hedvig-beaker’
from the Royal Castle in Buda

Fig. 2. Reconstruction of the decoration
on the original beaker

The result of mapping where the known Hedvig beakers were originally kept or discovered
was that all had been found in Europe. Apart from the piece from Novogrudok and the three
Silesian beakers, they were all scattered over territories where people had participated in the
crusades. In the case of the Namur beakers, it may be supposed that they were presents from
Jacques de Vitry, the founder of the monastery where they were kept.” A castle with another
beaker was built as late as the 12th c. These data dalimit the period when the beakers were taken
to Europe between the 2nd half of the 12th c. and the beginning of the 13th c. The best dated
piece is the Novogroudok find unearthed during archaeological excavations,® because the find
unit, also consisting of several other glass objects came to light in a house which had been demol-
ished in the 2nd half of the 12th c. In the case of the Novogrudok and the three Silesian beakers,
the connection with the crusades cannot be demonstrated. At the same time, this period wit-
nessed a vivid urban development and the upswing of long-distance trading in parallel with the
strengthening of relations to Byzantium. Silesia’s golden age came during the reign of Henrik
the Bearded and his wife Hedvig (from whom the beakers got their name). Henrik opened the
gates of the country to long-distance trade at the very beginning of his reign. Arabic tradesmen
took glass-ware to Silesia as early as the 11 —12th cc.? The crusades, however, blocked the route
for the Arabic tradesmen. Their place was taken over by tradesmen from Novgorod and Kiev.
Consequently, fine Byzantine glass must have come to Silesia via Russian tradesmen, since
Byzantine glass-ware had been present in Russian Orthodox churches since the 11th to 12th ce.
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Fig. 3. The beaker in the Rijksmuseum, Amster- Fig. 4. The beaker attributed to Saint Elisabeth the
dam, upon which the reconstruction was based Hungarian (photo Kunstsammlungen Veste Coburg)

The Novogroudok find, or rather finds (several fine pieces of glass have been found) may be con-
sidered, contrary to the publication, not merely the equipment of a rich household, but rather
as the stock of a merchant.

According to the legend of Hedvig, the wine poured in her beaker turned to water. Usually
this legend and its depictions from the 15th c. are have been linked to the name of the beakers.1?
This reasoning is, however, naive. It is more probable that the origin of the name “Hedvig’s
beaker’’ derives from the fact that one of the beakers was kept in a monastery founded and prob-
ably also furnished by Henrik and his wife Hedvig, where Hedvig was buried in a specially built
chapel after the ceremony of canonization (Trebnitz).

The gorgeous rock crystal vessels made by 10th c. Islamic artists became knightly presents,
part of the trousseau. Rock crystal was quarried in the mines of Iran, India and Afghanistan.
Due to the crusades allowed access to this precious material in limited quantities. At the same
time, interest in objects of eastern art grew in Europe and attention to them widened. The cru-
saders never returned without relics for the churches and monasteries. This was the period when
the treasuries of the European castles of the crusaders were enriched with precious Byzantine or
even Islamic art work, sometimes acquired by means of imprudent and merciless pillaging (Byzan-
tium was sacked in 1204 !). These tokens were carried, surely not without the mountings and if
selling relics meant business for the local inhabitants, it was no less a chance for the artisans.
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A high level of glass-ware manufacture was carried at several places along the Syrian coast.!!
The precious and rare rock crystal, which was already known in Europe, was replaced by glass
resembling the engraved rock crystal vessels, a material present in any quantity. It is not acci-
dental that art history deals with the two objects together, although their material and techniques
are totally different. The artisans making the Hedvig beakers may have intended them to be
reminiscent of those objects.

Given the knowledge of this historical background there are two dating possibilities for
the Buda fragment:

1. The reign of Béla III. who was educated in Byzantium (1172—1196).

2. The crusades led by Endre II. in 1217 —1218. His route was described in a letter to the
pope by Jacques Vitry, who at that time, was the bishop of Akkon.!> Before becoming bishop
he founded the cloister in Namour (France) where two fine Hedvig beakers (one ornamental and
the other decorated with an animal motif) were kept, and which he presented to the cloister on
his return following the short period of his episcopate in Akkon. Endre the second’s troops settled
at Akkon, Vitry accompanied by a high priest, carried a relic of the Holy Cross to their
camp. This relic was met by the barefooted king and his court. The Képes Krénika (Pictured
Chronicle) says that Endre had even sold Queen Gizella’s crown to buy relics and he returned
heaped with them.!® Endre the second’s wife, Gertrude was a princess of Andechs and sister of
Hedvig, the queen of Silesia from whom the beakers got their name. She was also the mother of
Saint Elisabeth, who married the marquis of Thiiringen, and to whom the preservation of the
beaker in the Koburg castle is owed. It could be possible that Elisabeth’s ornamented beaker
and the one with animal depictions from Buda made a single pair. In addition to the beaker pair
Namur, the one in the Cathedral of Halbestadt was also one of a pair according to the literature.

The persons connected to the beakers by the legends all lived in the same period were
themselves linked as well. This time period is the beginning of the 13th c. The find from Novo-
groudok, however, brings the time of manufacture of the beakers down to the second half of the
12th c. This 40 to 50 years, within which the beakers were made (perhaps not evenall at the
same time) is not a long period for the development of an artistic style especially considering the
cause that led to its rise, the long duration of the wars of the Cross. The synchronous residence of
Endre II. and Vitry in Akkon allows us to suppose that the beakers were made inn of the
great glass-ware producing centres along the Syrian coast, probably Akkon, famous for its glass
products.
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13 He stayed there for three months at last
emptying the royal treasury he acquired relics from
different saints: this skull of the martyr Saint
Stephen, the skull of the Virgin Saint Marguerite the
martyr, the right bands of Apostle Saint Thomas and
Saint Bartholomew, a piece from Aaron’srod and one of
the six jugs in which Christ turned water to wine, and
many other objects that he could collect and returned
to Hungaria with the precious treasures of the saints.”
Quotation from the Képes Kroénika, from the Hun-
garian translation in 1986, chapter 175.



